Public Document Pack



COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 18 NOVEMBER 2020 9.30 AM

VENUE: VIRTUAL TEAMS VIDEO MEETING

Members					
Conservative	Independent	Labour			
Sue Ayres	John Hinton	Alison Owen			
Melanie Barrett	Lee Parker				
Peter Beer (Chair)	Stephen Plumb (Vice-Chair)	<u>Green</u>			
Mary McLaren		Leigh Jamieson			
Adrian Osborne	Liberal Democrat	_			
	David Busby				

This meeting will be broadcast live to Youtube and will be capable of repeated viewing. The entirety of the meeting will be filmed except for confidential or exempt items. If you attend the meeting and make a representation you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed and that the images and sound recordings could be used for webcasting/training purposes.

The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.

AGENDA

PART 1 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT

Page(s)

1 SUBSTITUTES AND APOLOGIES

Any Member attending as an approved substitute to report giving his/her name and the name of the Member being substituted.

To receive apologies for absence.

2 **DECLARATION OF INTERESTS**

Members to declare any interests as appropriate in respect of items to be considered at this meeting.

3 PL/20/3 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 5 - 12 ON 7 OCTOBER 2020

4 PL/20/5 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 4 NOVEMBER 2020

To Follow.

5 TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME

6 SITE INSPECTIONS

In addition to any site inspections which the Committee may consider to be necessary, the Acting Chief Planning Officer will report on any other applications which require site inspections.

7 PL/20/6 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY 13 - 18 THE COMMITTEE

An Addendum to Paper PL/20/6 will be circulated to Members prior to the commencement of the meeting summarising additional correspondence received since the publication of the agenda but before 12 noon on the working day before the meeting, together with any errata.

a DC/20/03362 LAND SOUTH OF, ACCESS ROAD, FROM C733 TO 19 - 42 THE CHURCH, ASSINGTON, SUFFOLK

Notes:

- 1. The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday 2 December 2020 commencing at 9.30 a.m.
- 2. Where it is not expedient for plans and drawings of the proposals under consideration to be shown on the power point, these will be displayed in the Council Chamber prior to the meeting.
- 3. The Council has adopted Public Speaking Arrangements at Planning Committees, a link is provided below:

Public Speaking Arrangements

Temporary Amendments to the Constitution

Those persons wishing to speak on an application to be decided by Planning Committee must register their interest to speak no later than two clear working days before the Committee meeting, as detailed in the Public Speaking Arrangements (adopted 30 November 2016).

Those wishing to speak must contact the Governance Officer on the details below to receive instructions on how to join the meeting.

The registered speakers will be invited by the Chairman to speak when the relevant item is under consideration. This will be done in the following order:

- A representative of the Parish Council in whose area the application site is located to express the views of the Parish Council;
- An objector;
- A supporter;
- The applicant or professional agent / representative;
- County Council Division Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee on matters pertaining solely to County Council issues such as highways / education;
- Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee.
- Public speakers in each capacity will normally be allowed **3 minutes** to speak.

Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee are allocated a maximum of **5 minutes** to speak.

Date and Time of next meeting

Please note that the next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 9.30 am.

Webcasting/Live Streaming

The Webcast of the meeting will be available to view on the Councils Youtube page: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg

For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for people with disabilities, please contact the Committee Officer, Robert Carmichael - committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk - 01449 724930

Introduction to Public Meetings

Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government. The proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public.

Domestic Arrangements:

- Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room.
- Cold water is also available outside opposite the room.
- Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent.

Evacuating the building in an emergency: Information for Visitors:

If you hear the alarm:

- 1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground).
- 2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor.
- 3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways). If you are in the Atrium at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit.
- 4. Use the stairs, not the lifts.
- 5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so.

Agenda Item 3

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of the **PLANNING COMMITTEE** held in the Virtual Teams Video Meeting on Wednesday, 7 October 2020 -09:30

PRESENT:

Councillor: Peter Beer (Chair)

Stephen Plumb (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Sue Ayres Melanie Barrett

David Busby John Hinton Leigh Jamieson Mary McLaren Adrian Osborne Alison Owen

Lee Parker

Ward Member(s):

Councillors: Zac Norman

Clive Arthey

Margaret Maybury

In attendance:

Officers: Planning Lawyer (IDP)

Acting Area Planning Manager (MR) Principal Planning Officer (JH/SS)

Governance Officer (RC)

1 SUBSTITUTES AND APOLOGIES

None received.

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

None declared.

3 TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME

The Governance Officer reported that one petition had been received regarding application DC/19/00567 (Item 6A) with 240 valid signatures supporting the following statement.

We wish to voice a number of strong objections that we have with regard to the proposed development of additional properties on open space to the side of Burstall Lane and Lorraine Way (Hope Farm) . Policies that are from the Babergh Local Plan

2011-2031 Core Strategy and policies (Part 1 of New Local Plan), saved policies, NPPF, regional planning guidance for east Anglia, The Suffolk structure plan 2001 all combine to support the protection of our countryside and greenbelt areas.

4 PL/20/1 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 SEPTEMBER 2020

It was Resolved that the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2020 were confirmed as a true record subject to the amendment below:

That the attendance of Officers and Ward Members be added to the minutes.

The Minutes would be signed at the next practicable opportunity.

5 SITE INSPECTIONS

None requested.

6 PL/20/2 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE

In accordance with the Council's arrangements for Public Speaking at Planning Committee, representations were made as detailed below relating to the items in Paper PL/20/2 and the speakers responded to questions put to them as provided for under those arrangements.

Application Number	Representations From		
DC/19/00567	Helen Davies (Parish Council Representative)		
	Rhona Jermyn (Objector)		
	Martyn Levett (Objector)		
	Rob Snowling (Applicant)		
	Cllr Christopher Hudson (Suffolk County		
	Council Division Member)		
	Cllr Zac Norman (Ward Member)		
DC/19/04755	Cllr Margaret Maybury (Ward Member)		
	Cllr Clive Arthey (Ward Member)		

It was RESOLVED

That subject to the imposition of conditions or reasons for refusal (whether additional or otherwise) in accordance with delegated powers under Council Minute No. 48(a) (dated 19 October 2004) decisions on the items referred to in Paper PL/20/2 be made as follows:-

7 DC/19/00567 LAND NORTH OF BURSTALL LANE, SPROUGHTON, IPSWICH, SUFFOLK, IP8 3DE

7.1 Item A

Application Proposal

DC/19/00567

Hybrid Application comprising: Outline Planning Application (Access to be considered) for the erection of up to 92 homes and 13 self-build/custom build plots (including provision of up to 37 affordable homes); open space, including a village wood; land for community use/ local shops/ office space; land for a village car park; land for an extension to existing village allotments; land for paddocks; land for relocated and enhanced caravan storage provision; safeguarded land for potential future relief road; new public right of way and associated infrastructure provision. Full planning application for spine road between Loraine Way and Burstall Lane (including accesses onto Burstall Lane and Loraine Way); access for proposed caravan storage area; accesses for self-build plots from Burstall Lane; and associated drainage and highway works (including

Site Location

formation of passing bays on Burstall Lane). **SPROUGHTON-** Land North of, Burstall Lane,

Sproughton, Ipswich, Suffolk, IP8 3DE

Applicant

Pigeon Land 2 Ltd And The Felix Thornley Cobold

Agricultural Trust

- 7.2 The Case Officer presented the application to the Committee outlining the proposal before Members, the layout of the site, the contents of the tabled papers and the updated officer recommendation of approval as detailed in the tabled papers.
- 7.3 The Case Officer responded to Members' questions on issues including: the indicative plan and parameters plan associated with the application, the spine road through the site, the affordable housing provision and that this would be confirmed at a reserved matters stage, and the proposed self-build plots on the site.
- 7.4 The Case Officer responded to further questions from Members on issues including: the consultation with Mid Suffolk District Council and why Ipswich Borough Council had not been consulted, the conditions within the officer recommendation, the current highways situation in the village and the response from Suffolk County Council (Highway Authority), the air quality in the village, and the Local Housing Needs Assessment.
- 7.5 A short comfort break was taken between 11:10-11:15
- 7.6 Members considered the representation from Helen Davies of Sproughton Parish Council who spoke against the application.
- 7.7 The Parish Council representative responded to Members questions on issues including: whether any development would be supported on the site, how often the applicant had consulted with the Parish Council, and the current position of

the Neighbourhood Plan.

- 7.8 Members considered the representations from Rhona Jermyn and Martyn Levett who spoke as Objectors.
- 7.9 Members considered the representation from Rob Snowling who spoke as the Applicant.
- 7.10 The Applicant responded to Members' questions on issues including: the percentage of bungalows that could be accommodated, the proposed spine road, the deliverability of the site, the proposed community area that would be secured in the Section 106 Agreement, that the applicant could not commit to building the community building and that the detailed house design would be included in a reserved matters application.
- 7.11 Members considered the representation from Cllr Christopher Hudson who spoke as the County Council Division Member.
- 7.12 The County Councillor responded to Members' questions on issues including: the current state of the Highways in Sproughton and the surrounding area, cycle paths in the area, air pollution concerns in the area, and the sustainability of the proposal.
- 7.13 Members considered the representation from the Ward Member, Councillor Zac Norman who spoke against the proposal.
- 7.14 The Ward Member responded to Members questions on issues including: the current Planning Appeal that was taking place on a site to the east of the proposed development.
- 7.15 Before the debate the Acting Area Planning Manager advised Members that the Highway Authority did not object to the proposal and that the Neighbourhood Plan was at a very early stage.
- 7.16 Members debated the application on the issues including: whether a provision of Bungalows could be secured on the site, the points raised by the Parish Council representative, the separation between Sproughton and the surrounding villages of Bramford and Burstall, and the material weight of the appeal that was currently underway to the east of the site.
- 7.17 Members continued to debate the application on the issues including: the effect of other major developments in the area, the conflict with policy CS11, the status of the Councils 5 Year Housing land supply as updated in the AMR, the harms and benefits associated with the proposal, the Community Infrastructure Levy which would be generated from the site and the contributions which would be captured in the Section 106 Agreement.
- 7.18 Councillor Melanie Barrett proposed that the application be approved as detailed in the officer recommendation with the additional condition as follows:

- Delegation to officers a means to secure 2/3 bedroom dwellings and minimum of ten bungalows across the site (either by condition or by S.106).
- 7.19 Councillor Sue Ayres seconded the motion.
- 7.20 By 6 votes to 5

7.21 RESOLVED

That the application is GRANTED planning permission and includes the following conditions:-

- (1) Subject to the prior agreement of a Section 106 Planning Obligation on appropriate terms to the satisfaction of the Chief Planning Officer to secure:
 - Affordable housing:
 - no less than 35% of total scheme
 - Properties shall be built to current Housing Standards Technical requirements March 2015 Level 1. All ground floor 1 bed flats to be fitted with level access showers, not baths.
 - The council is granted 100% nomination rights to all the affordable units on initial lets and 75% on subsequent lets
 - All affordable units to be transferred freehold to one of the Councils preferred Registered Providers.
 - Adequate parking provision is made for the affordable housing units including cycle storage for all units.
 - Commuted sum option available to be paid instead of on site provision should the LPA agree to such request.
 - No more than 15 dwellings in any cluster of affordable dwellings
- Marketing of self-build plots to households on the council's Self-Build/Custom Build Register
- On site open space and play space and include management of the space to be agreed and requirement for public access at all times.
- Community woodland o Extension to allotments o Village car park o Skylark mitigation area o RAMS contribution (£121.89 per dwelling)
- Highway improvement works contributions to include:
- Traffic regulation orders to extend 30mph limit and moving of weight limit
- B1113 New zebra crossing north of Wild Man PH access
- B1113/Burstall Lane/Lower Street Junction Reduce kerb radii and install uncontrolled crossing points
- A1071/B1113 Beagle Roundabout Widening of approach lanes to roundabout Footway between Sproughton and Bramford Cycle link on Loraine Way
- Contribution to facilitate extension of 30mph speed limit and move weight

limit

- Travel Plan monitoring fee
- Works to Footpath 9
- (2) That the Chief Planning Officer be authorised to APPROVE Planning Permission upon confirmation from Natural England they have no objection to the application and completion of the legal agreement subject to conditions as summarised below and those as may be deemed necessary by the Chief Planning Officer:
- Reduced time limit for new homes, standard time limit for non-residential uses
- Approved Plans (Plans submitted that form this application) including broad compliance with indicative parameters plan
- Approval of reserved matters
- Phasing Condition (To allow phasing of the development and allows spreading of payments under CIL)
- Landscape; Advance planting, landscape management plan, soft and hard landscaping plan
- Ecology: Mitigation and enhancement measures, , biodiversity enhancement strategy, landscape and ecological management plan, wildlife sensitive lighting.
- Tree method statement and protection plan
- Highways; details of spine road and highway mitigation at Burstall Lane, details of highway mitigation at B1113/Lower Street junction, village gateway signs, visibility splays, estate road construction, car parking/electrical vehicle charging/cycle storage details, refuse/recycling bins, construction management plan.
- Fire hydrants
- Surface water drainage
- Mineral safeguarding
- Archaeology
- Land contamination further investigation and unknown contamination
- Market housing mix prior to or concurrent with reserved matters to be agreed
- Up to two storey development only, with ridge heights to be agreed
- Sustainability and energy strategy
- Level access to enable wheelchair access for all dwellings/buildings.
- Broadband service ducting
- Construction method statement, no burning of waste, restriction on hours of use and deliveries for non-residential (future class E and D2) uses
- Noise from any plant, equipment or machinery on non-residential uses
- Travel Plan
- (3) And the following informative notes as summarised and those as may be deemed necessary:
 - Proactive working statement
 - SCC Highways notes
 - Anglian Water notes
 - Lead Local Flood Authority notes

(4) That in the event of the Planning obligations or requirements referred to in Resolution (1) above not being secured and/or not secured within 6 months that the Chief Planning Officer be authorised to refuse the application on appropriate grounds.

Additional Condition:

- Delegation to officers a means to secure 2/3 bedroom dwellings and minimum of ten bungalows across the site (either by condition or by S.106).

8 DC/19/04755 LAND TO THE REAR OF PLOUGH AND FLEECE INN, GREAT GREEN, COCKFIELD, BURY ST EDMUNDS, SUFFOLK, IP30 0HJ

8.1 Item B

Application DC/19/04755

Proposal Outline Planning Application (Access to be considered all

other matters reserved) – Erection of up to 28no. dwellings (Plots 5,6 and 7 of Reserved Matters Permission DC/19/02020 to be repositioned / amended)

Site Location Land to the Rear of Plough and Fleece Inn. Great Green.

Cockfield, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP30 0HJ

Applicant The Sudbury Group Ltd

8.2 The Case Officer presented the application to the Committee outlining the proposal before Members, the layout of the site, the reason for the applications return to the Committee, the contents of the tabled papers, and the officer recommendation of approval.

- 8.3 Members considered the representation from the Ward Member, Councillor Margaret Maybury who spoke in support of the application.
- 8.4 Members considered the representation from the Ward Member, Councillor Clive Arthey who spoke in support of the application.
- 8.5 Councillor Stephen Plumb proposed that the application be approved as detailed in the officer recommendation. Councillor Melanie Barrett seconded the motion.
- 8.6 By a unanimous vote

8.7 RESOLVED

That the affordable housing provision be amended from 12 to 11 units (according to a tenure mix to be agreed by the Strategic Housing Team).

The business of the meeting was concluded at 1.27 pm.	
	Chair

Agenda Item 7



PL/20/6

PLANNING COMMITTEE

4 NOVEMBER 2020

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE

Item	Page No.	Application No.	Location	Officer
7A	19-42	DC/20/03362	Land south of, Access Road, From C733 to the Church, Assington, Suffolk	JW

Philip Isbell Chief Planning Officer

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990, AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION, FOR DETERMINATION OR RECOMMENDATION BY THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

This Schedule contains proposals for development which, in the opinion of the Acting Chief Planning Officer, do not come within the scope of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers adopted by the Council or which, although coming within the scope of that scheme, she/he has referred to the Committee to determine.

Background Papers in respect of all of the items contained in this Schedule of Applications are:

- 1. The particular planning, listed building or other application or notification (the reference number of which is shown in brackets after the description of the location).
- 2. Any documents containing supplementary or explanatory material submitted with the application or subsequently.
- 3. Any documents relating to suggestions as to modifications or amendments to the application and any documents containing such modifications or amendments.
- 4. Documents relating to responses to the consultations, notifications and publicity both statutory and non-statutory as contained on the case file together with any previous planning decisions referred to in the Schedule item.

DELEGATION TO THE ACTING CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER

The delegated powers under Minute No 48(a) of the Council (dated 19 October 2004) includes the power to determine the conditions to be imposed upon any grant of planning permission, listed building consent, conservation area consent or advertisement consent and the reasons for those conditions or the reasons to be imposed on any refusal in addition to any conditions and/or reasons specifically resolved by the Planning Committee.

PLANNING POLICIES

The Development Plan comprises saved polices in the Babergh Local Plan adopted June 2006. The reports in this paper contain references to the relevant documents and policies which can be viewed at the following addresses:

The Babergh Local Plan: http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/

National Planning Policy Framework:

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS SCHEDULE

AWS Anglian Water Services

CFO County Fire Officer

LHA Local Highway Authority

EA Environment Agency

EH English Heritage

NE Natural England

HSE Health and Safety Executive

MoD Ministry of Defence

PC Parish Council

PM Parish Meeting

SPS Suffolk Preservation Society

SWT Suffolk Wildlife Trust

TC Town Council



Protocol for Virtual Meetings

Live Streaming:

- The meeting will be held on TEAMS and speakers will be able to join via invite only. Any person who wishes to speak at the meeting must contact Committee Services at: committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk at least 24 hours before the start of the meeting.
- The meeting will be live streamed and will be available to view on the Council's YouTube page as detailed below: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf 0D13zmegAf5Qv aZSg

Recording of proceedings:

- 1. Proceedings will be conducted in video format.
- 2. A Second Governance Officer will be present and will control the TEAMS call and Livestreaming.
- 3. Members should display the Corporate Background whilst in attendance at formal meetings; the working together logo should be used for joint meetings.
- 4. If you are experiencing slow refresh rates and intermittent audio you should turn off incoming video to improve your connection to the meeting (If this also does not work please turn off your own camera).

Roll Call:

1. A roll call of all Members present will be taken during the Apologies for Absence/Substitution to confirm all members are present at the meeting.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests:

1. A Councillor declaring a disclosable pecuniary interest will not be permitted to participate further in the meeting or vote on the item. Where practicable the Councillor will leave the virtual meeting, including by moving to a 'lobby' space and be invited to re-join the meeting by the Committee Officer at the appropriate time. Where it is not practicable for the Councillor to leave the virtual meeting, the Committee Officer will ensure that the Councillor's microphone is muted for the duration of the item.

Questions and Debate:

- 1. Once an item has been introduced, the Chair will ask if there are any questions. Members of the Committee will be asked to use the "Hands Up" function within teams. The Chair will then ask Members to speak.
- 2. Any Councillors present who are not part of the Committee will then be invited to ask questions by using the "Hands up function" within teams. The Chair will then ask Members to speak.

- 3. At the end of the questions the Chair will ask Members whether they have any further questions before entering into debate.
- 4. In the instance where a Member of the Committee would like to formally make a proposal, they should raise their hand using the Hands Up function. At this point the Chair would go directly to them and take the proposal. Once the proposal has been made the Chair would immediately ask if there was a seconder to the Motion. If there is it would become the substantive Motion and the Chair would again continue down the list of Councillors until there is no further debate.
- 5. Upon completion of any debate the Chair will move to the vote.

Voting:

- 1. Once a substantive motion is put before the committee and there is no further debate then a vote will be taken.
- 2. Due to circumstances the current voting by a show of hands would be impractical as such the Governance Officer will conduct the vote by roll call. The total votes for and against and abstentions will be recorded in the minutes not the individual votes of each Councillor. Except where a recorded vote is requested in accordance with the Rules of Procedure.
- 3. The governance officer will then read out the result for the Chair to confirm.
- 4. A Councillor will not be prevented from voting on an item if they have been disconnected from the virtual meeting due to technical issues for part of the deliberation. If a connection to a Councillor is lost during a regulatory meeting, the Chair will stop the meeting to enable the connection to be restored. If the connection cannot be restored within a reasonable time, the meeting will proceed, but the Councillor who was disconnected will not be able to vote on the matter under discussion as they would not have heard all the facts.

Confidential items:

1. The Public and Press may be Excluded from the meeting by resolution in accordance with normal procedural rules. The Committee Officer will ensure that any members of the public and press are disconnected from the meeting.

Agenda Item 7a

Committee Report

Item 7A Reference: DC/20/03362

Case Officer: Jasmine Whyard

Ward: Assington.

Ward Member/s: Cllr Lee Parker.

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION

Description of Development

Full Planning Application - Erection of Nursery School (Yorley Barn Nursery relocation from Yorley Barn, Upper Road, Little Cornard) (Class D1) with ancillary parking and construction of vehicular access to The Street.

Location

Land South Of, Access Road from C733 to the Church, Assington, Suffolk

Expiry Date: 30/10/2020

Application Type: FUL - Full Planning Application

Development Type: Minor All Other **Applicant:** Yorley Barn Nursery School

Agent: Mr Nick Peasland

Parish: Assington

Site Area: 0.70 hectares

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit: None

Has a Committee Call In request been received from a Council Member (Appendix 1): No

Has the application been subject to Pre-Application Advice: Yes

PART ONE - REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE

The application is referred to committee for the following reason:

i) The Chief Planning Officer considers the application to be of a controversial nature having regard to significant local concerns and heritage objections to this development proposal. There are economic development considerations here and these will require to be carefully assessed in the planning balance given the formal weight they attract under the NPPF and having regard to the present economic climate. Arguably a decision either way will provoke public response and reaction.

With these considerations in mind this application is controversial and should be reported to Planning Committee for determination.

PART TWO - POLICIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY

Summary of Policies

The Development Plan

The following policies are considered the most pertinent to the determination of this proposal. The policies are all contained within the adopted development plan for Babergh District which is comprised of: Babergh Core Strategy (2014) and Babergh Local Plan Alteration No.2 (2006), specifically the live list of 'saved policies' (2016). All Policies, save for CS2, are afforded full weight in the determination process as they are considered wholly consistent with the aims of the NPPF under paragraph 213 of that document.

- Babergh Core Strategy (2014)
- CS01 Applying the presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh
- CS02 Settlement Pattern Policy
- CS03 Strategy for Growth and Development
- CS11 Core and Hinterland Villages
- CS13 Renewable / Low Carbon Energy
- CS15 Implementing Sustainable Development
- CS17 The Rural Economy
- 'Saved policies' (2016) of Babergh Local Plan Alteration No.2 (2006)
- EN22 Light Pollution Outdoor Lighting
- CR04 Special Landscape Areas
- CR07 Landscaping Schemes
- CR08 Hedgerows
- CN01 Design Standards
- CN06 Listed Buildings Alteration/Ext/COU
- TP15 Parking Standards New Development
- NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
- NPPG-National Planning Policy Guidance

Emerging Joint Local Plan Policies

 The emerging Joint Local Plan is a relevant consideration to the development; however, members are reminded that it holds limited weight.

SP03- Settlement Hierarchy

The National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 contains the Government's planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied. Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies contained within the NPPF are a material consideration and should be taken into account for decision-taking purposes.

Particularly relevant elements of the NPPF include:

Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4: Decision Making

Section 6: Building a Strong, Competitive Economy Section 8: Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport Section 12: Achieving Well-Designed Places

Section 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

Section 16: Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

Other Considerations

Suffolk County Council- Suffolk's Guidance for Parking (2014 most recently updated in 2019)

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) provides guidance and advice on procedure rather than explicit policy; however, it has been taken into account in reaching the recommendation made on this application.

Neighbourhood Plan Status

This application site is / is not within a Neighbourhood Plan Area.

The Neighbourhood Plan is currently at-

Stage 4: Independent Examination of a neighbourhood plan (Regulation 17). The plan is imminently going to the examination stage. Accordingly, the Neighbourhood Plan is attributed due weight, in this case this equates to limited weight.

Particularly relevant elements of the Assington Neighbourhood Plan include:

ASSN1: Spatial Strategy

ASSN12: Area of Local Landscape Sensitivity

ASSN13: Protected Views

ASSN16: Biodiversity

ASSN17: Heritage Assets

ASSN18: Special Character Area ASSN19: Design Considerations

ASSN20: Sustainable Construction Practices

Consultations and Representations

During the course of the application Consultation and Representations from third parties have been received. These are summarised below.

A: Summary of Consultations

Town/Parish Council (Appendix 3)

Assington Parish Council

Strongly object on the following grounds:

- No regard given to the emerging Neighbourhood Plan
- No identified need demonstrated
- No attempt made to relocate the premises within the settlement boundary
- Landscape Sensitivity
- Detrimental Impact on undisrupted views
- Impact on highway- dangerous access, many accidents in area, increased traffic, danger to children
- Other buildings nearby which are for sale/ rent that could be used instead

National Consultee (Appendix 4)

Historic England

No comment.

Natural England

Holding objection as the site has the potential to affect the Arger Fen SSSI, this is further discussed in section 7 of this report.

County Council Responses (Appendix 5)

SCC - Travel Plan Co-ordinator

No comment as the proposal does not trigger the threshold for the submission of a travel plan.

SCC - Highways

No objection, subject to conditions.

Internal Consultee Responses (Appendix 6)

• Economic Development & Tourism

Supports the application through the provision of childcare, which is crucial to supporting the rural economy, through the possibility of job creation, assisting in local recruitment and supporting working families.

Arboricultural Officer

Objected, as proposed use and design could conflict and undermine the trees protected by TPOs on site.

Public Realm

No comment.

Environmental Health - Noise/Odour/Light/Smoke

No objection, subject to conditions.

• Environmental Health - Land Contamination

No objection.

Heritage Team

Object based on harm to the setting of listed buildings. This is discussed further in section 9 of this report.

Other Consultee Responses

Ecology - Place Services

Holding objection based on insufficient information on foul water drainage which could affect the Arger Fen SSSI. This is discussed in section 7 of this report.

Suffolk Preservation Society

Object based on the impact on heritage assets and important views.

Landscape- Place Services

Object as the extent of change to the local landscape character and setting and the sites location outside the built-up area boundary would detrimentally affect the landscape.

B: Representations

At the time of writing this report, 31 representations of objection were received (all from within Assington Village) summarised as follows:

- Increased traffic, especially at rush hour (25)
- No regard to Assington Neighbourhood Plan (23)
- Increased risk of accidents (17)
- Inadequate and dangerous access (16)
- Out of character (14)
- Landscape impact (13)
- Air pollution (13)
- Noise pollution (13)

- Light pollution (12)
- Health and safety (11)
- Unsuitable location in regard to noise and pollution for children (9)
- Unnecessary location when better ones are available (9)
- Loss of open space (9)
- Inappropriate prominent location at entry to village (8)
- Affects ecology and wildlife (8)
- Character of undeveloped rural greenfield agricultural land lost (7)
- Dominating/ overbearing (7)
- Loss of outlook (7)
- Creates precedence for housing later (7)
- Dangerous road with limited footpath (7)
- Ugly design (6)
- Harm listed buildings (6)
- Strain on existing community facilities (6)
- Conflicts with Local Plan (6)
- Sustainability (6)
- Supporting comments not from residents in village (6)
- Inadequate public transport (5)
- Drainage (5)
- Overdevelopment (5)
- The standard of education the existing nursery provides is not planning related (5)
- Conflicts with NPPF (4)
- Trees (4)
- Increased flood risk (3)
- Inappropriate in a Conservation Area (3)
- Inadequately publicised (3)
- Loss of privacy (3)
- Inadequate infrastructure in Assington to support further development (3)
- No local need (3)
- Development too high (2)
- Loss of public right of way (2)
- Inadequate parking provision (2)
- Could increase in size in future years increasing pressure on landscape (2)
- SCC Highways have not scrutinised submitted data (2)
- Scale (2)
- No shortage in nursery school places (2)
- It is nursery not school and therefore benefits should not have the same weight (2)
- High winds raise risk of falling wood in area- dangerous to children
- Fencing the TPOS would be ineffective from falling debris
- Blocking views to Church on entry to village
- Outside of settlement boundary
- Boundary issues
- Loss of agricultural land
- New business to locality not existing one

- Permissive pathway is useless
- Fear of crime
- Increased anti-social behaviour
- Overlooking
- Health concerns of pylons
- Building work
- Fencing is required to stop children entering highway

1 supporting comment was received from within Assington

35 supporting comments were received outside of Assington but within 10 miles of the site.

4 Supporting comments were received within 20 miles of the site.

6 supporting comments were received more than 20 miles away from the site.

These comments are all summarised as follows:

- Ideal environment for children and their early development years (20)
- Allow expansion of the business, including increasing nursery places (20)
- Established, successful business, great reputation including Outstanding Ofsted rating (19)
- Serves community and children they care for and teach (15)
- Quality education (13)
- Increased places to relieve waiting list (10)
- Great Staff (10)
- Remove traffic from rural lanes (8)
- Requires the rural location for outdoor activity (8)
- Positive outcome for local and surrounding areas (7)
- Generate local jobs and training (7)
- Safer road access (7)
- Easy and convenient location (6)
- Support rural economy (3)
- Safe environment
- Happy children
- Expansion and more space allows a range of activities
- Barn is in keeping with rural architecture
- Good rural education rather than nurseries in city locations like London
- Offers places on the government's 2-year-old scheme supporting deprived children
- Helping working parents
- Facilitates expansion in housing
- Skilled employment opportunities
- Communities should grow and change over time
- Not an application for profit unlike the ones within Assington

(Note: All individual representations are counted and considered. Repeated and/or additional communication from a single individual will be counted as one representation.)

PLANNING HISTORY

PART THREE - ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION

1.0. The Site and Surroundings

- 1.1. The site is located north east of the Built-Up Area Boundary for Assington (483 metres away). The site is located immediately adjacent to and south of the A134, separated by hedgerow and trees. The site is accessed on the road (C733) to the south of the A134, leading into Assington. The site is fairly level.
- 1.2. There is a public right of way located south west of the site, 200 metres away and a permissive footpath which starts at the bottom south west hand corner of the site and connects to the public right of way. There is another public right of way located west of the site which starts on the opposite side of the road.
- 1.3. The site is rural in character, with agricultural land surrounding the site. There is a row of trees (three oak and one lime) running along the western boundary of the site and two oak trees to the north, which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). The site extends 0.7 hectares and is located in the north west corner of a grade 2 agricultural field (very good quality land with few limitations). The Stour Valley Special Landscape Area (SLA) surrounds the site north west, south west and south. The SLA starts directly opposite the site on the adjacent side of the road around Assington Park.
- 1.4. There are two listed buildings located close to the site which share a historic association, these are the Grade I listed St Edmund's Church located 238 metres west and the Grade II listed Glebe House located 214 metres east. Slightly further away from the site are the Grade II listed Hill Farm is located 436 metres south west and the Grade II listed Coach House 337 metres west. The site lies in an area of archaeological potential recorded on the County Historic Environment Record.
- 1.5. The nearest dwellings are located 214 metres to the east (Glebe House), 320 metres to the west (Assington Hall) and 432 metres south west (Church Hill Barn). The site is not within or close to a Conservation Area.
- 1.6. The site falls wholly within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less than 1 in 1000 annually) of river or sea (fluvial) flooding. The agricultural use of the site and existing records show that presently it is considered to be at low risk of surface water (pluvial) flooding.
- 1.7. The site is not located within any designated landscape area including any Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Air Quality Management Area, Local Green Space, or Area of Visual/Recreational Amenity. However, it is important to note that the site is located outside of a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), but in an area which has been identified by Natural England as an impact risk zone for potential impact on the Arger Fen SSSI located south of the site (1.6 miles away).

2.0. The Proposal

- 2.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of a single-storey building for use as a forest outdoor nursery school (Use Class D1) with ancillary parking provision and access.
- 2.2. For context, the existing business (Yorley Barn Nursery School), is currently located at Yorley Farm, Upper Road, Little Cornard, but the business is being evicted from their existing premises and need to find alternative suitable premises within the locality in order to continue operating. The nursery school provides childcare for ages 1 to 5.

3.0. The Principle Of Development

- 3.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, then that determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
- 3.2. Core Strategy policy CS1 and paragraph 11 of the NPPF state that the decision-making process should be done in accordance with the most relevant policies of the Local Development Plan where they are considered up-to-date in relation to their consistency with the NPPF. All policies identified in this report, except CS2, hold full weight in the determination process as they are considered compliant with the aims of the NPPF as distinguished under paragraph 213 of that document. Policy CS2 is afforded limited weight given its prescriptive blanket approach to development, it nonetheless provides direction and distinguishes the most suitable areas for development.
- 3.3. Policies CS11 and CS15 work inter alia in assessing proposals for Hinterland Villages. As the proposal is neither located adjacent to, nor is well related to the existing settlement boundary, it is not considered to engage with the assessment criteria under CS11. Instead the proposal and site are primarily assessed against their suitability and sustainability in the location using policies CS2, CS15 and paragraph 8 of the NPPF. The proposal is outside of the settlement boundary and is therefore contrary to policy CS2. The proposal is also outside of the emerging settlement boundary for Assington under policy SP03 under the emerging Joint Local Plan.
- 3.4. Core Strategy policy CS17 is also pertinent to assessing the proposed development. CS17 and paragraph 83 of the NPPF seek to support the rural economy, including through newly-designed buildings and development of accessible local services. Paragraph 84 of the NPPF stresses that the opportunity to enable rural services and businesses may result in development in areas outside of existing settlement boundaries. However, in these instances the development must be sensitive and responsive to its surroundings. Furthermore, in consideration of the site's existing use as grade 2 agricultural land; whilst 0.7 hectares would be lost, it would be concentrated in one corner of the field and would not undermine the ability of the field to be used for agricultural purposes.

3.5. With regard to the above policy positions, the site location is assessed against the three pillars of sustainability (economic, social and environmental), specifically with regard to Core Strategy policy CS15 for implementing sustainable development and paragraph 8 of the NPPF in achieving sustainable development.

Economically, in the long-term the proposal offers the opportunity to continue to support the existing twelve jobs, with the possibility of increasing this through the creation of four additional jobs and creation of two apprenticeships. Furthermore, in accordance with Core Strategy policy CR17, directly the proposal would support the rural economy through maintaining existing jobs with the possibility of expansion, indirectly the proposal would provide a childcare facility for working parents who may be employed locally or further afield. At a smaller and short-term scale, the proposal would generate a benefit for local trade before and during the construction period.

Socially, Assington would benefit from the addition of another facility. Whilst it is of a lesser likelihood, given the site's location significantly outside of Assington, it is wholly possible that local services and facilities within Assington could benefit from quick stopovers and trade from parents travelling to and from the nursery, thus further supporting the vitality of the rural economy.

Environmentally, whilst there are some footpath connections and public rights of way near to the site which would connect it to Assington, it is not considered that the site is strictly environmentally friendly, contrary to policy CS15 criterion xviii, which seeks to encourage active travel in the first instance to avoid car usage. However, this is not considered to sway the planning balance towards the conclusion that the site is unsustainably located. The proposal is for a childcare facility and as such it is unrealistic to assume that parents would regularly and predominantly access the site via walking and it is far more likely that the nursery would be accessed by parents travelling to and from work during rush hour periods via car. The site in this respect is suitably located adjacent to the A134, this would discourage and prevent travelling significant distances away from the A134, which connects the locality to numerous other places and thus employment sites. The site would be suitably located as an effective drop off point for commuting parents. Furthermore, with regard to paragraph 103 of the NPPF, it is acknowledged that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport will also vary between urban and rural areas.

Both Core Strategy policies CS2 and CS11, emerging Joint Local Plan policy SP03 and emerging Assington Neighbourhood Plan policy ASSN1 identify areas for accommodating growth and assessment criteria for those developments that fall outside of these areas, although it is acknowledged that all of these policies have varying degrees of limited weight. Whilst the site falls outside of any existing or proposed settlement boundary and is not adjacent or well-related to Assington; in view of the material considerations identified above, based on the type of development, which requires a more isolated rural setting, and its primary service to provide childcare facilities, it is considered that the location is sustainable for its end use.

4.0. Nearby Services and Connections Assessment of Proposal

4.1. The site is adjacent to the A134, the main road running through and connecting the area.

- 4.2. There is a permissive footpath running west starting from the southern edge of the site. The permissive footpath connects the bottom of the site to the existing public right of way.
- 4.3. Within Assington there are several services and facilities including: public house, village hall, a handful of small independent shops and Assington Barns. There is no existing nursery school.

5.0. <u>Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations</u>

- 5.1. Policies TP15, CS15 criterion xviii and paragraphs 103, 108, 109 and 110 of the NPPF seek to ensure that there is adequate parking provision, sustainable transport options are explored and that appropriate access and layout are provided to ensure there is no adverse impact on the highway network.
- 5.2. The access would be located to the north west corner of the site, 74 metres away from the junction with the A134, along the C733. Parking provision would be to the front, accommodating 18 public spaces and another 16 spaces for staff. This would meet the requirements of Suffolk Parking Guidance (2019).
- 5.3. SCC Highways raised no objection to the proposal from the perspective of access, visibility, traffic generation and parking provision, stating that, in accordance with paragraph 109 of the NPPF, the development would not result in an 'unacceptable impact on highway safety'. Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 109 the highway impact from the development would not warrant refusal. In consideration of paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF, SCC Highways, however, acknowledged that the site is not accessible by sustainable means. However, as identified above, the type of childcare development means it is desirable for the site to accommodate efficient drop-offs and short visits for working parents. Therefore, it is wholly unrealistic to expect that even with sustainable transport options available that there would be any significant meaningful uptake of this, cars would be the most prolific form of transport.
- 5.4. As there are 14 employees (with a possible additional four), the proposal does not reach the adopted threshold to warrant the submission of or condition for a travel plan.
- 5.5. SCC highways recommended that conditions for visibility splays, access and parking provision should be provided prior to first use and a construction management plan should be submitted prior to commencement. These conditions would all be considered appropriate in the event of an approval.

6.0. Design and Layout

6.1. Local Plan policies CN01 and CN06 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF seek to secure sympathetic and responsive design for a development's surroundings. The following shows that the overall design is acceptable, however the overall principle of a building on site is unacceptable from a heritage perspective (See section 9).

- 6.2. The layout would consist of parking to the frontage of the site, a single-storey nursery building, and the rear would be the outside nursery area. From the adjacent roads the proposal would appear minimalistic and rural in character.
- 6.3. There would be a covered porch area, covered way, two store areas, one open store/ cycle store and covered outside play area which would be attached to the main building. The main building would provide a kitchen, staff room, main toilet area) utility, entrance lobby, admin and two office rooms and three nursery rooms (two of which have toilets and one with a sleep room).
- 6.4. The main nursery building would provide 252 sqm in floor space. Overall, the whole structure including covered areas would measure 2.4m to the eaves, 6.4m to the ridge, 32.7m in length and 10.7m in depth. The covered outside play area would be 2.4m in height with a slightly sloping roof.
- 6.5. The building would have a pitched roof and be constructed from box profile steel sheet composite insulated roof cladding in grey and black weatherboarded elevations. Combined, the materials and overall form, would result in the building adopting an agricultural vernacular, mimicking traditional agricultural barns which contribute to the wider character of Suffolk.
- 6.6. There would be three sets of bifold doors and one window on the south west elevation, a side access door on both sides, six windows and a main entrance door on the north east elevation. The storage area to the western side would have two sets of double doors facing eastwards and a small window on the north-east elevation.

7.0. <u>Landscape Impact, Trees, Ecology, Biodiversity and Protected Species</u>

- 7.1. Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policies CR04, CR07 and CR08 and paragraphs 127 c), and 170, of the NPPF seek to recognise the importance of the character and contribution of the landscape and ecology to the locality, especially in achieving well-designed places. Whilst it holds limited weight emerging Joint Local Plan policy LP18 continues to place emphasis on the importance of the landscape. The site is adjacent to the Stour Valley SLA which is located to the south-west. There is a row of TPOs along the western boundary and some within the northern boundary.
- 7.2. The proposal's landscaping scheme includes: retention of existing trees along western boundary, planting trees within the outside area of the site, planting native shrubs along the eastern boundary and along the northern boundary adjacent to the A134, grassland and flower meadow margins. An agricultural style steel 5-bar gate would be erected at the entrance of the site, set back from the highway. The car park would be hardstanding (bodpave) and an area around the rear of the site would be comprised of a sandpit and concrete paving. A 1.2-metre-high timber post and rail fence would enclose the site and a 1.5-metre-high gabion wall around the car park area.
- 7.3. Place Services Landscaping reviewed the submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and raised objection to the proposed landscape impact as the development would adversely impact on the special landscape qualities of the area through altering the

character and appearance of the open undisrupted agricultural landscape, which sets the scene for the Grade I listed St Edmund's church. Whilst the neighbourhood plan holds limited weight, policies ASSN12 and ASSN13 are considered of importance in understanding the overall importance of the site in relation to the wider landscape. The policies are in support of the Place Services Landscape findings. ASSN13 identifies protected views, this includes protected view 4 between Glebe House and St Edmund's Church. Landscaping concluded that the proposed development would adversely impact on the open countryside views currently available from this location. This includes impact on the agricultural setting of Hill Farmhouse, south-west of the site. It is further noted that the site sits on a slightly higher level compared to the majority of Assington, making it appear more prominent within the open landscape. It is acknowledged that mitigation is proposed on-site to soften the landscape impact; however, the built form of the development would inherently alter the existing undisrupted views, which has implications on both the Stour Valley SLA and emerging area of local landscape sensitivity and protected views. Furthermore, the proposed mitigation is not considered to reduce the impacts on the landscape setting and character, it is inevitable that irreparable landscape harm would be caused.

- 7.4. Whilst the arboricultural report confirms that the built form would not detrimentally affect the TPO's roots, due to the age of the trees and the location of the proposed open space for young children's use, the Council's Arboricultural Officer raised concerns that the trees are likely to have some falling dead wood and other material which could seriously injure a child. The applicant proposes the erection of fencing around the trees to deter occupation of risk areas; however, concerns remain that these may not be practical, especially with younger children. Preventative pruning of the TPOs is also not supported as it would impact upon their value, contribution to the landscape and potentially their health. Whilst the development is not directly opposed, the current design is not considered to sufficiently address concerns over the potential conflicts on the site between a children's nursery and mature trees with a high chance of falling dead wood. Whilst it is acknowledged that it is the site operator's responsibility to ensure children's safety on site, any falling branches could potentially undermine the TPOs in the future through calls to fell them because of their safety risk. The site in this regard is, therefore, considered unsuitable for the proposed end use.
- 7.5. Natural England identified the site to be within the 3km Impact Risk Zone which shows that there could be an adverse impact on the Arger Fen SSSI (designated wetland site) through discharge of foul water to ground or surface water. Insufficient information has been submitted relating to the method of foul water drainage, which is likely to be a package treatment plant as no mains sewer connection can be made. Whilst it may be unlikely to have an impact, as no information has been submitted, it cannot be determined with certainty that there would be no impact. Paragraph 175 d) of the NPPF states that any development which may have an impact on an SSSI should not normally be approved. Paragraph 177 of the NPPF furthers this stating that where an impact is identified, the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply. Whilst Place Services Ecology raised no objection to the submitted ecological appraisal in regard to the site and its immediate surroundings, in taking account of Natural England's response they raised a holding objection due to insufficient information in relation to the designated site Arger Fen SSSI.

8.0. Land Contamination, Flood Risk, Drainage and Waste

- 8.1. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF seeks to ensure development is appropriately located in relation to contaminated land, any contamination should be appropriately remediated. From the perspective of land contamination, the Council's Environmental Protection Team was satisfied that the Phase I contamination report submitted with the application confirmed there were no land contamination issues as there was little evidence that there was any plausible contaminative link that existed on site.
- 8.2. Core Strategy policy CS15 criterion xi) and paragraph 155 of the NPPF seek to ensure that people and buildings are sequentially located to areas of lower flood risk. The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and has no recorded issues of surface water flooding. There would be limited hardstanding and built-form on site, retaining the majority as natural permeable surfaces, therefore there are no concerns that the development would increase any flood risk. As the site is under a hectare no Flood Risk Assessment was required either. The proposal therefore is located in accordance with CS15 and paragraph 155 of the NPPF.
- 8.3. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF seeks to ensure development is located away from pollution alongside mitigating against adversely affecting the surroundings through increasing forms of pollution. From the perspective of noise, odour, light and smoke Environmental Protection raised no objection. It was however noted that as there is no mains sewer serving the site a package sewage treatment plant would have to be used. Conditions were recommended to provide details of such plant alongside limiting operating hours.

9.0. Heritage Issues

- 9.1. The site lies in an area of archaeological potential recorded on the County Historic Environment Record. SCC Archaeology identified that the site lies in close proximity to the grade I listed Church of St Edmund, which is thought to be built on one the presumed locations of the Battle of Assundun, a battle fought in 1016 as a result of a Danish invasion of England. Further to this, the site is on the edge of a medieval green marked and named as 'Green' on Hodskinson's map of Suffolk dated 1783. As a result, there is high potential for the discovery of below-ground heritage assets of archaeological importance within this area, and groundworks associated with the development have the potential to damage or destroy any archaeological remains which exist. SCC Archaeology raised no objection to the build from the perspective of archaeology; however, in the event of approval, two conditions are recommended for investigative and post investigative works.
- 9.2. The Council's Heritage Team has assessed the proposal in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policy CN06 and paragraphs 127 c), 190, 192, 193 and 194 which seek to conserve and enhance the setting and significance of listed buildings, noting their importance in the landscape and history of the area. Specifically, paragraph 190 and 194 seek to identify and assess the significance of heritage assets, this explicitly includes any development within the setting of the heritage asset, any harm that results should be sufficiently and convincingly justified. This setting may extend outwards of the immediate curtilage of listed buildings and extend within the wider surroundings which have had

historical associations or provided views of significance both outwards from the listed building and looking into the listed building.

- 9.3. The Council's Heritage Team concluded that there were three different forms of harm to the surrounding listed buildings:
 - A low to medium level of less than substantial harm to the undeveloped setting, important view and historic relationship from the Grade I listed St Edmund's Church to the Grade II listed The Glebe House.
 - A low level of less than substantial harm by way of erosion of the historic relationship between The Glebe House and St Edmund's Church.
 - A very low level of less than substantial harm by eroding the undeveloped agricultural setting of Grade II Hill Farmhouse, including the associated curtilage listed buildings of Hill Farmhouse.
- 9.4. The Council's Heritage Team provided its assessment for the conclusions above.

The heritage concern relates to the potential impact of the works on the significance of the following nearby heritage assets:

- The Church of St Edmund, a Grade I listed C15 flint church with chancel and tower rebuilt in the C19, to the north west.
- The Glebe House, a Grade II Listed early C19 gault brick house, including potential curtilage listed structures, to the east.
- Hill Farmhouse, a Grade II Listed timber-framed and plastered farmhouse, with C17-C18 external features but with an earlier core, including its potentially curtilage listed historic barns, to the south west.
- The Stables and Coach House to the former Assington Hall, a Grade II Listed block of C18- C19 buildings to the north west. The historic Assington Hall burnt down in 1957.
- Assington Park, a landscaped park of 1750, to the north west. This is not designated but may meet the criteria to be considered a non-designated heritage asset depending upon extent of preservation and significance. A non-designated heritage asset has some level of architectural or historical interest and significance but not enough to be listed.

The Heritage Statement submitted equates setting only with intervisibility from fixed points and suggests that, if an asset cannot be seen to or from a site, then the site cannot contribute to significance. This is contrary to Historic England's The Setting of Heritage Assets guidance (2017), which states that "although views of or from an asset will play an important part, the way in which we experience an asset in its setting is also influenced by other environmental factors, such as noise, dust and vibration...and by our understanding of the historic relationship between places." It also provides a checklist of ways that setting

contributes to significance (p.11), many of which would not necessarily be dependent upon intervisibility.

As previously outlined, some of the ways by which the proposed scheme would be harmful are not related to degree of visibility from fixed points. Nonetheless, visibility and views are also of a concern in this case, particularly in relation to views of the tower of the Church of St Edmund from the A134. The Heritage Statement argues that these views are restricted due to intervening vegetation. However, from carrying out a site visit, the tower appeared fairly noticeable. The Setting of Heritage Assets guidance (p.12) highlights the importance of considering seasonal changes resulting in differences of vegetation cover. Furthermore, it states (p.14) that "woodland and hedgerows" should be considered "ephemeral features...(that) may be removed or changed during the duration of the development." The Heritage Team could not ensure that vegetation was retained. Therefore, no weight is given to the presence of existing vegetation in the assessment of the proposal in relation to the setting of listed buildings.

The Heritage Statement also argues that the construction of the A134/realignment of the previous road has "severely disrupted" the ability to understand the historic relationship between Glebe House and the church. However, I am not convinced that the impact of the A134 is so great that the historic relationship is no longer readable. Furthermore, the presence of an existing negative element within the setting of a heritage asset is not considered justification for causing further harm to the setting. This was concluded by the Inspector in the appeal for application DC/18/04162 in Mid Suffolk, who states that "I am not of the view that previous negative changes to the setting of the listed building should be used to justify further harm to its significance; on the contrary, this demonstrates to me that a line needs to be drawn or similar development shall continue until all of its remaining setting has been harmed or lost." The Heritage Statement further suggests that the church tower is not experienced from the A134 because the focus of all road users is on the road only, not the surroundings, this is yet again an unconvincing argument.

- 9.5. The emerging Assington Neighbourhood Plan (ASSN13) further supports the findings of the Council's Heritage Team, identifying the protected views including protected view 4 which protects the link and undisrupted views between The Glebe House and St Edmund's Church.
- 9.6. In accordance with paragraph 196 of the NPPF, the proposed development must be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. These benefits must be of true value to the wider public and must be to such a degree to be considered to outweigh the harm.
- 9.7. In weighing the public benefits, the following are identified as the benefits of the scheme:
 - The continuation of fourteen jobs which already exist within the district
 - The possible creation of four additional jobs and two apprenticeships new to the district
 - A private childcare facility, which parents would pay for their children to attend, whilst they may be going to work in or outside of the area.

Paragraphs 82, 83 and 84 of the NPPF seek to support businesses in suitably accessible locations, including recognising that in rural areas this may be outside of the settlement boundary. Paragraph 83 a) specifically states that businesses in rural areas are supported in principle through conversion of existing buildings and new well-designed buildings. However, in taking the NPPF as a whole, chapter 16 seeks to protect the historic environment and draw a balance. None of these benefits are considered significant enough to outweigh the harm that the proposal would cause to the setting and significance of the three Grade I and Grade II designated heritage assets. It is noted that the agent made the argument that paragraph 94 of the NPPF seeks to ensure there are adequate school places made available. However, this is a private nursery and is not considered to be a school, rather a childcare facility. Unlike a school, there is no defined catchment area for a private nursery, as shown by the supporting comments which suggest the majority of parents are from surrounding areas. The nursery would be of limited localised benefit to Assington and would primarily serve surrounding villages. Whilst its benefit as a service and its outstanding Ofsted reputation are undisputed, the proposed location is wholly inappropriate. Furthermore, no justifiable reason has been given as to why the nursery should be located here other than the difficulty in sourcing an affordable site or premises within the area. The site is heavily constrained, including by the contributions it makes to the setting and significance of designated heritage assets.

9.8. The proposal and its resulting harm to listed buildings have been unconvincingly justified, and therefore do not satisfy the requirements under paragraph 194 of the NPPF. Whilst the proposal is not considered opposed in principle from a planning perspective, it should be located in a more suitable unconstrained location which does not detrimentally affect the district's heritage assets and preservation of history. Whilst it is acknowledged that the nature of the forest nursery requires a 'rural' setting it is considered that, as the district is primarily rural, there are more suitable places for such a facility.

10.0. Impact on Residential Amenity

10.1. By way of its isolated location there are no dwellings surrounding or close to the site whose residential amenity would be detrimentally impacted. There would be minimal noise generated from the operations on site, which would be during regular social hours and secured via condition. Furthermore, the predominant source of noise would continue to come from traffic along the A134.

11.0. Planning Obligations / CIL

11.1. Not applicable to this application.

12.0. Parish Council Comments

12.1. The Parish Council raised several objections to the proposal, each of which will be addressed in turn.

- 12.2. The Assington Neighbourhood Plan has just passed the consultation stage and is at Regulation 17 stage (independently examined) and therefore is afforded limited weight. The Parish Council discuss the policies the proposal conflicts with, these include: ASSN1, ASSN12, ASSN13 and ASSN24. In addition to conflicts with the neighbourhood plan, highway concerns were noted.
- 12.3. As the neighbourhood plan has limited weight it is not yet an adopted document and therefore cannot solely be relied upon in the determination process. Therefore, the policies with full weight (unless stated otherwise) are those within adopted documents and are those which primarily drive the determination of this application. The neighbourhood plan does, however, provide some direction and identify key aspects of the village which help to understand its overall character, setting and surroundings.
- 12.4. ASSN1 seeks to direct development within the existing settlement and for those outside of the settlement boundary provides assessment criteria. Whilst the proposal is contrary to these criteria, as the plan holds limited weight this is not the primary policy for determining the acceptability of the location. The locational suitability is considered in section 3.
- 12.5. ASSN12 relates to the area of local landscape sensitivity which seeks to protect the landscape character in any development proposals. Please see further discussion of conflict with this proposal in section 7.
- 12.6. ASSN13 identifies several viewpoints to be protected which contribute both immediately to their surroundings, history, landscape and sense of place and more widely to the overall character of the landscape. Please see further discussion of conflicts with this policy in sections 7 and 9.
- 12.7. ASSN24 relates to existing local businesses in their retention and intensification. As the proposal is not an existing business within the parish, this policy is not considered relevant.
- 12.8. Highways concerns were noted, including the submission of a crash map. When checking the crash map data for the last five years there was one slight accident at the junction involving two cars; however, this was on the A134 and not the C733. The highways concerns have been addressed by SCC Highways and in section 5.
- 12.9. It is further noted that the Parish Council in its response has offered to assist in helping the nursery find a more suitable alternative premises/ site.

PART FOUR - CONCLUSION

13.0. Planning Balance and Conclusion

13.1. In making a planning balance, whilst the site's location may be considered sustainable for the type of development by way of its accessibility to the A134, it is not considered that the

constraints of the site in the form of TPOs, landscape character and designated heritage assets make it an appropriate site for the development. Whilst there are undeniably some public benefits, these are considered to be minimal and not significant community benefits. The public benefits of sustaining existing jobs within the district, only serving to benefit children of fee-paying parents in an unspecified catchment, which includes outside of the district, and supporting parents working or otherwise. These benefits are not considered of significant or wide enough public value to outweigh the heritage harm identified. The proposed use and current design of the site illustrates great disregard for the importance of the TPOs on the boundary which could be severely undermined by the proposal if approved, with the worst-case scenario being that they are removed. By way of the openness, rural and undeveloped agricultural nature of the site, the surrounding landscape would be detrimentally harmed, especially as the site sits higher in comparison to the main settlement area of Assington.

13.2. The proposal would undermine the aims of and would conflict with Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policies CN06, CR04, CR07 and paragraphs 127, 170, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF. In summary, the proposal would detrimentally affect heritage assets without justification or sufficient public benefits, the character of the landscape would be significantly and detrimentally harmed and the proposed end use as a children's nursery has high potential to undermine the TPOs on site.

RECOMMENDATION

That the application is REFUSED planning permission for the following reasons:-

- 1. The proposal is contrary to Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policy CN06 and paragraphs 190, 192, 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF as the proposal would cause a range of harm on designated heritage assets ranging from a low-to-medium level of less than substantial harm to a very low level of less than substantial harm to the setting and significance of the Grade I listed St Edmund's Church, Grade II listed The Glebe House and Grade II listed Hill Farmhouse. The proposal would disrupt the existing setting and significance of the listed buildings. The reasoning given for the resultant harm arising from the proposal is not convincingly justified. In weighing the proposal against public benefits, it is not considered that the identified benefits from the erection of a private nursery school, with no identified catchment area, sustaining fourteen existing jobs with the unguaranteed creation of four additional jobs and two apprenticeships outweighs this harm. This site is therefore considered unsuitable for the proposed development which would detrimentally affect Assington's and Babergh's heritage assets and physical presence and understanding of history.
- 2. The proposal conflicts with Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policy CR07 and paragraphs 127 and 170 of the NPPF through potential indirect impact on the four trees protected by tree preservation orders along the western boundary of the site. The proposed mitigation is not enough to offset and address concerns that the use of the site as children's nursery is unsuitable so close to mature trees which have a high potential to shed dead wood which could injure a child and could result in pruning or felling of the trees based on a conflict of uses.
- 3. The proposal conflicts with Core Strategy policy CS15, Local Plan policies CR04, CR07 and CR08 and paragraphs 127 and 170 of the NPPF. The nursery would be located amongst agricultural fields and existing vegetation, which currently serve as undisrupted views across the area. The site falls at the entrance of the village and is therefore prominently located, and its openness contributes to the overall rural character of Assington and its surrounding undeveloped land around the settlement boundary. The development would detrimentally alter the character and openness of the area.
- 4. There is insufficient information relating to the way that foul water shall be discharged from the site. Whilst it is acknowledged this will not be through a mains sewer, information on the necessary sewage treatment plant has not been submitted. As the site falls within the 3km impact risk zone of the Arger Fen SSSI (designated wetland) the Local Planning Authority cannot determine with certainty that the development would not result in any adverse impacts to the Arger Fen SSSI through the development's chosen method of foul

water drainage. The proposal is therefore in conflict with Core Strategy policy CS15 and paragraph 175 b) and 177 of the NPPF resulting in potential adverse impact on an SSSI.



Application No: DC/20/03362

Parish: Assington

Location: Land South of Access Road From C733 to the Church





